## Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 19 (2021) 303-314





COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY

JOURNAL



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

## Review

# Towards understanding the messengers of extracellular space: Computational models of outside-in integrin reaction networks



## Zeynep Karagöz<sup>a</sup>, Laura Rijns<sup>b</sup>, Patricia Y.W. Dankers<sup>b</sup>, Martijn van Griensven<sup>a</sup>, Aurélie Carlier<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Cell Biology-Inspired Tissue Engineering, MERLN Institute for Technology-Inspired Regenerative Medicine, Maastricht University, Universiteitssingel 40, 6229 ER Maastricht, the Netherlands

<sup>b</sup> Department of Biomedical Engineering and Institute for Complex Molecular Systems, Eindhoven University of Technology, PO Box 513, 5600 MB Eindhoven, the Netherlands

## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 October 2020 Received in revised form 15 December 2020 Accepted 16 December 2020

## ABSTRACT

The interactions between cells and their extracellular matrix (ECM) are critically important for homeostatic control of cell growth, proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. Transmembrane integrin molecules facilitate the communication between ECM and the cell. Since the characterization of integrins in the late 1980s, there has been great advancement in understanding the function of integrins at different subcellular levels. However, the versatility in molecular pathways integrins are involved in, the high diversity in their interaction partners both outside and inside the cell as well as on the cell membrane and the short lifetime of events happening at the cell–ECM interface make it difficult to elucidate all the details regarding integrin function experimentally. To overcome the experimental challenges and advance the understanding of integrin biology, computational modeling tools have been used extensively. In this review, we summarize the computational models of integrin signaling while we explain the function of integrins at three main subcellular levels (outside the cell, cell membrane, cytosol). We also discuss how these computational modeling summary for biomaterial researchers interested in complementing their experimental work with computational tools or for seasoned computational scientists that would like to advance current *in silico* integrin models.

© 2020 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

## Contents

1.	Introduction	304				
2.	Extracellular matrix proteins binding to integrins					
3.	. Integrin function on the cell membrane					
	3.1. Integrin clustering	307				
	3.2. Cross-talk between integrins and other membrane receptors	308				
4.	Integrin function in the cytosol	309				
	4.1. Signaling activities	309				
	4.2. Cytoskeletal remodeling	309				
5.	Conclusion and outlook	310				
	5.1. Overcoming biological challenges	310				
	5.2. Overcoming computational challenges	311				
	CRediT authorship contribution statement					
	Declaration of Competing Interest					
	Acknowledgements	312				
	References	312				

#### https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.12.025

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Universiteitssingel 40, 6229 ER Maastricht/Room C3.577, PO Box 616, 6200 MD Maastricht, the Netherlands. *E-mail address:* a.carlier@maastrichtuniversity.nl (A. Carlier).

<sup>2001-0370/© 2020</sup> The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

## 1. Introduction

The evolution of cell adhesion, both to other cells and to surfaces, has been a critical step in the emergence of multicellular organisms on earth [1]. Today, we know that cells of all multicellular metazoans, reside in a mesh of fibrous proteins, referred to as the extracellular matrix (ECM) [2]. Adhesion to the ECM is required for the homeostatic control of cell growth, proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis [3]. Furthermore, interaction between cells of the same tissue/organ is facilitated by the ECM, resulting in biochemical and biophysical information exchange [4]. When the natural cell–ECM interaction is perturbed, because cells cannot adhere or the ECM properties have drastically changed, morbid or cancerous phenotypes are observed at the cell/tissue/organ level [5-7]. The ECM therefore, not only functions as a structural support for a group of cells in a tissue, but it actively communicates with the cells to ensure homeostasis.

Experimental research on the subcellular structures that form the link between cells and their matrix started in the early 1970s [2]. After nearly 20 years, a family of heterodimeric proteins, called integrins, were characterized as cell-surface receptors for ECM proteins that mediate the communication of cells and their ECM in animals [9] (Fig. 1). Each integrin molecule consists of noncovalently associated  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits. To date, 24 unique integrins have been found in mammals, which are combinations of 18 different  $\alpha$  and eight different  $\beta$  subunits [10,11] (Fig. 2). Each integrin molecule is able to recognize and bind to a defined set of ECM ligands via its ectodomain [11,12] and to cytosolic ligands via its cytoplasmic tails [11]. This way, integrins create physical anchor points between the extracellular space and the cytoplasm (Fig. 1.1, blue).

There are different ways in which integrins orchestrate the communication between the cells and their extracellular environment. Multiple integrins of the same or different type, when bound to their ligands, can cluster together (Fig. 1.2a, green) and initiate the formation of a multi-protein complex at the cell-ECM interface called a "focal adhesion" (FA) [13]. The cytoplasmic side of the FAs contain many different molecules and protein kinases, such as focal adhesion kinase (FAK), proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase Src and small GTPase Ras, to start and maintain several signaling cascades [13]. It is also known that integrins can facilitate and/or enhance signaling via other cell-surface receptors (such as syndecans or receptor tyrosine kinases) by establishing a "crosstalk" with them [14,15] (Fig. 1.2b, green). In addition, on the cvtosolic side. FAs harbor numerous other proteins such as talin and vinculin. Via these proteins. FAs are bound to the actin cytoskeleton and can affect the cell shape and motility [13,16] (Fig. 1.3b, yellow).

Having such key functions in the cell–ECM communication and initiating cellular responses to signals from the ECM, integrins have been a common target in the biomaterial and tissue engineering fields. Biomaterials designed for regenerative medicine and in specific tissue engineering applications are aimed to direct specific cellular behavior (e.g. regeneration) by designing instructive biomaterials with or without the addition of growth factors [17-19]. Materials inspired by tissue-specific geometric, chemical and physical properties of the ECM have been successfully used to guide the cells to a desired behavior [18]. Recently, materials decorated with



**Fig. 1.** Integrins are transmembrane proteins that function at multiple cellular levels. Outside the cells (1, blue), ectodomains of integrins selectively bind to extracellular ligands. On the cell membrane (2, green), multiple integrin molecules are recruited to the focal adhesion site and physically cluster together (2.a) and/or integrins interact with other cell surface receptors to enhance their activity, resulting in signaling crosstalk. (2.b). In the cytosol (3, yellow), integrins initiate signaling cascades (3.a) and are connected to the actin cytoskeleton via adaptor proteins and can initiate cytoskeletal remodeling (3.b). (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)



**Fig. 2.** A schematic overview of the 24 unique types of integrins, that are composed of 18 different  $\alpha$  (dark green) and eight different  $\beta$  subunits (light green). Integrins are grouped into four classes according to their ligand-binding properties. Adapted from (Hudson et al. 2017). (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

bioactive molecules have been produced to actively communicate with cells [17]. These promising strategies require thorough understanding of integrin function, as it is the key mediator of ECM–cell interactions.

Since the characterization of integrins in the late 1980s, there has been great advancement in understanding the function of integrins at different levels. However, the versatility in molecular pathways integrins are involved in, the high diversity in their interaction partners both outside and inside the cell as well as on the cell membrane and the short lifetime of events happening at the cell–ECM interface make it difficult to elucidate all the details regarding integrin function experimentally [2,20-22].

To overcome the experimental difficulties and to integrate knowledge on integrin function at different cellular levels that come from different *in vitro* methods, *in silico* efforts have come into play. Computational modeling of biological data is a powerful tool and helps to resolve complex interactions within biological systems. A computational (or *in silico*) model is a mathematical simplification of the actual system. It aims at replicating the behavior of the system it represents, allowing to perform simulations and test novel hypothesis *in silico* [23,24].

The level of detail and precision of a computational model, as well as the amount of data needed to build one, depend on the research question and the mathematical method [23]. The most detailed mathematical description of a biological system is by ordinary or partial differential equations (ODEs/PDEs). This type of model provides information on the changes in the amount of each component in the model over time. Although they are precise in the information they provide, these models are parameterintensive, meaning that one needs the initial amounts of each species observed in the model, as well as the time-dependent relationship between them (e.g. reaction rates) to build the model. These type of models may get very complicated very quickly because every species in the system must be represented by one equation [23]. Logic-based Boolean models are at the other side of the spectrum in terms of precision and data intensity. They are not based on precise measurements of biological molecules, but they work in an ON/OFF manner, based on observations such as "when molecule A is present in the system, B gets activated". The simplicity in construction makes these type of models suitable for representation of large biological networks such as signaling cascades [23]. The criteria for deciding on a type of model are therefore 1) the amount and the characteristics of the data at hand and 2) the specific purposes of modeling. There can be multiple ways to model a biological process, and all of them can be correct at the same time [25].

Our molecule of interest in this review, integrin, has also been studied *in silico* since it is at the heart of the cell–ECM communica-

Table 1

In silico models describing integrin function at different sub-cellular levels that are reviewed in the text. Models are listed under the sub-cellular space category they address.

1. Outside	2. Membrane		3. Cytosol	
Cell – ECM adhesion	Integrin clustering	Receptor cross-talk	Signaling	Cytoskeletal remodeling
Cóndor et al. 2017 Blucher et al. 2014 Hudson et al. 2017 Bidone et al. 2019	Jamali et al. 2012 Yu et al. 2017 Cheng et al. 2020	Bazzazi et al. 2018 Bauer et al. 2010	Cirit et al. 2010	Macdonald et al. 2008 Escribano et al. 2014

tion, yet difficult to study experimentally. As integrin function can be divided into three main spatial categories—1) extracellular space (Fig. 1 – blue), 2) cell membrane (Fig. 1 – green) and 3) cytosol (Fig. 1 – yellow)—the computational models of integrin function can also be grouped into the same three main categories. In the following sections, we explain the function of integrin at these three spatial categories following an outside-in perspective and summarize the computational models that belong to each category (Table 1).

A review of computational models that centralizes around the molecular reaction networks of integrins does not exist to our knowledge. We aim at filling this gap and providing the scientific community with a guideline that can be used in two ways: first, as a roadmap on how the integrin function can be modeled computationally using different methods, and second, as a starting point for new computational models as we also state possible extensions to existing models and open questions in the field. We do not include in this review the computational models of processes related to integrin function (e.g. mechanosensing and cell motility) that do not explicitly explain the role of integrins. Comprehensive reviews of computational models of mechanosensing [26] and cell shape and motility [27] can be found elsewhere.

## 2. Extracellular matrix proteins binding to integrins

In its simplest form, ligand binding at the interface between the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits of integrins requires that there are integrins present on the portion of the cell membrane that is exposed to the ECM and that those integrins are in their active form. Such a system has the following reactions:

$$S \stackrel{k_D/k_D}{\leftrightarrow} I$$
 (Rxn.1)

$$L + I \stackrel{k_L^+/k_L^-}{\leftrightarrow} LI \tag{Rxn.2}$$

where *S* is the inactive integrin concentration that and becomes active with the rate  $k_D^+$ . I is the active integrin concentration at the reaction site that can bind to ligands, *L*, with the reaction rate  $k_L^+$  to form the ligand–integrin complex, *LI*. The reverse reactions have the rates  $k_D^-$  and  $k_L^-$ , respectively.

The rate of change in concentration of each species in this simple system can be expressed as ODEs in the following form:

$$\frac{d[I]}{dt} = k_D^+[S] - k_L^+[L][I] + k_L^-[LI] - k_D^-[S]$$
(1)

$$\frac{d[L]}{dt} = -k_L^+[L][I] + k_L^-[LI]$$
(2)

$$\frac{d[S]}{dt} = -k_D^+[S] + k_D^-[I]$$
(3)

By numerically solving these ODEs, some important questions can be answered, such as "What is the equilibrium concentration of each species?", "How fast does the system reach the equilibrium?" and "How do the equilibrium concentrations depend on the binding parameter values?" To numerically solve a system like this, one needs to plug in the initial concentrations of each species and rate constants in the equations. The system of equations can be converted to computer code and then numerically solved for convenience. Tellurium [28] and bioCRNpyler [29] in Python offer ODE based modeling of biological systems for the users who are experienced and/or interested in coding. In platforms like VCell (https:// vcell.org/) and Morpheus [30], however, a user does not have to actively code but can still analyze differential equation systems [31].

Blucher *et al.* use a similar ODE system to Eqs. 1–3 to model integrin–ligand binding kinetics. They use rate constants that are consistent with values measured for multiple types of integrins by atomic force microscopy [32], and estimate the initial values for the concentration of each species. In this sense, this model



Fig. 3. Graphical illustration of main findings from computational models about integrin function in three cellular levels.

can provide only theoretical information on the reaction kinetics. They solve the equations in MATLAB by both deterministic and stochastic simulations. When averaged, the results of 100 stochastic simulations matched the deterministic simulations. Moreover, they reveal that the system is most dynamic during the first quarter of the simulation time and then reaches a steady state for each model species [33].

Each of the 24 different integrin molecules goes through the processes of activation, ligand binding and clustering at different rates. In their model, Blucher *et al.* do not take into account the different integrin and ligand types. They rather provide a general overview of the dynamics of ligand binding to integrins. Although it is still interesting to mathematically explain the interactions at the cell–ECM interface, adding the complexity of different integrin–ligand pairs to such an ODE system would provide more biologically relevant estimations. This of course requires knowledge of different reaction rates for different integrin–ligand pairs, which is not present for all (see discussion for more details).

Besides being dependent on the types of interacting molecules, integrin-ligand binding is a dynamic process and is greatly affected by the changes in ECM. Proteomics studies demonstrated that ECM composition dynamically changes in response to acute stress of injury [8,34]. The effect of changes in the ECM ligand concentration on the integrin binding kinetics can be quantified using an ODE model similar to Eqs. 1-3, when the ligand and integrin concentrations are known experimentally. Hudson et al. addressed this question using a combined in vivo-in silico approach, including a mouse model to induce fibrosis in the liver with CCl<sub>4</sub> exposure and a complementary in silico model. Using liquid chromatography with mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) quantification, an increase in the amount of multiple types of collagen, fibrillary proteins, glycoproteins and proteoglycans in case of chronic CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced liver fibrosis was reported. Next, an ODE model to quantify the changes in integrin-ligand binding and integrin clustering upon changes in the ECM composition was used. The ODE model is similar to the simple example above except that Hudson et al. account for clustering among integrin molecules as well and assume all the integrins are active by the time the simulation starts. This is a valid simplification because this model is focused more on the integrin-ligand binding kinetics and accounts for different binding rates of different integrin-ligand pairs, which increases the number of equations to be solved.

The dynamics of integrin type  $\alpha_1\beta_1$ -collagens type I–IV and integrin type  $\alpha_V\beta_3$ -fibronectin and von Willebrand factor are investigated separately by Hudson *et al.*. For all integrin–ligand pairs in this study, when the ligand amount increases — as in case of fibrosis in the tissue — the steady-state value of ligand-bound integrins is higher and is reached faster than in healthy tissue conditions (Fig. 3.A). When expanded to account for further behavioral effects of integrin signaling on the cell, which will be discussed in the following sections, this model could provide valuable information on the timing of events for different integrin types at the cell– ECM interface.

Although individual integrin–ligand pairs can be modeled and simulated mutually exclusively, as by Hudson *et al.*, multiple different integrin types are found simultaneously at the cell–ECM interface. The reasons for this coexistence of different types of integrins at the adhesion sites have been widely discussed. Different nanoscale properties of integrin subtypes point to different roles for them.  $\beta_1$  integrins, for instance, are found basally active on the cell membrane whereas  $\beta_3$  integrins rapidly transform between active–inactive states [35]. Similarly,  $\beta_1$  integrins have higher affinity for fibronectin than  $\beta_3$  integrins do [21]. Explaining the contribution of the different integrin properties, such as activation and ligand-binding affinity, to the adhesion formation is a challenge *in vitro* as well as *in silico*.

Using a highly coarse-grained model, Bidone et al. demonstrated that the simultaneous presence of  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_3$  integrins at the nascent adhesion sites can in fact contribute to different aspect of the physics of cellular adhesion. The model space is a quasi-2D surface on which single-point integrins can get activated/deactivated, bind to ligands and interact with each other to form clusters. Integrins that have high affinity for a ligand and that are also more stable in their active state – such as  $\beta_1$  – are responsible for strong individual adhesion to extracellular ligands. Conversely, integrins with lower affinity for a ligand – such as  $\beta_3$  – have stronger affinity for other integrin molecules, resulting in focal adhesions where many integrins cluster but their binding to the ECM ligands is less consistent than for  $\beta_1$  integrins [21]. Their work therefore suggests that integrin-ligand binding and integrin clustering are competing processes and that the nanoscale properties of integrins determine the dominant process (Fig. 3.B).

The computational models mentioned here either considered integrins as equally active and ready-to-bind to ligands [8] or as molecules with a defined rate of activation [21,33]. This was because these models were focused more on the chemical reactions that occur during or following the integrin-ligand binding, therefore a more detailed representation of the integrin activation was not necessary. However, there is a significant amount of computational modeling efforts around the actual mechanisms of integrin activation. These efforts mainly include molecular dynamics simulations, and although out of the scope of this review, we refer the readers to [36] and [37] for two of such molecular dynamics simulations.

#### 3. Integrin function on the cell membrane

The second spatial level of integrin action is on the cell membrane where integrins have two main function with long range effects: 1) clustering among each other and 2) cross-talk with other cell membrane receptors. Clustering of ligand-bound integrins happens with the help of polyvalent extracellular ligands and/or cytoplasmic linker proteins and is prominent in the maturation of focal adhesions [38]. The cross-talk between integrins and other cell membrane receptors is important in establishing and maintaining intercellular signaling cascades that have further impact on cell behavior [14]. As such, it is interesting to explore the mathematics behind the molecular biology of integrin activity on the cell membrane.

#### 3.1. Integrin clustering

Experimental observations suggest the joint effect of substrate stiffness and spatial organization of ECM ligands to be prominent in the formation of cellular adhesions. Substrate rigidity regulates the dynamics of cell adhesion by modulating the mechanical force to promote conformational changes in integrin and ligand molecules [39,40]. Therefore, rigidity influences the reactions between integrin and their ligands, which were discussed in the previous section. The spatial organization of integrin ligands, however, is observed to affect the continuance of the cellular adhesion which is related to clustering of ligand-bound integrins on the cell membrane. On substrates where the ligand spacing is larger than ~ 70 nm, the focal adhesions stay immature (because integrins cannot cluster) whereas ligand spacing smaller than ~70 nm promotes maturation of focal adhesions [40,41].

The underlying mechanochemical mechanism of integrin clustering in response to ligand spacing has been studied by Yu *et al.* using Monte Carlo simulations. Their model space was a  $\sim 6 \times 6 \ \mu m^2$  square patch of cell membrane with  $\sim 100-1000$  integrins that are free to diffuse to the non-occupied, nearest-

neighbor location. The model does not account for different types of integrins but rather simulates the integrin function in a generalized way. At each step of the simulation, integrins follow a set of rules based on a system that is similar to the one introduced before (Rxn 1–2), except that integrin clustering (Rxn. 3) is added to the reaction system and the ODEs are rearranged accordingly.

$$LI + LI \stackrel{k_C^-/k_C^-}{\leftrightarrow} C \tag{Rxn.3}$$

According to reaction (3), ligand-bound integrins can form clusters (*C*) with the nearest ligand-bound integrin (*LI*) at rate  $k_c^+$ , and similarly, clusters can dissociate at rate  $k_c^-$ . The Monte Carlo method introduces stochasticity to the system at the beginning of each simulation by randomly sampling the integrin molecules on the membrane that will undergo reactions (1)–(3) and therefore setting the initial conditions for the ODE system. Stochasticity is inherently present in biological systems since many cellular reactions depend on the random motion of molecules [42], so it is important to account for the randomness. The integrins that are not contributing to the ODEs are free to diffuse on the membrane to the next nearest neighbor with a constant rate. This way, the integrins are shuffled at each simulation step and their spatial distribution changes [43].

In another interesting in silico experiment, Yu et al. set ligands at fixed positions in the model space, but with different spacing between them (20, 40, 60, 80 and 100 nm). At the end of the in silico experiments with ligand spacing 20 to 60 nm, 60% of total integrins in the model space are found in the clustered form. With ligand spacing exceeding 60 nm, a sharp decrease in the amount of clustering is observed (Fig. 3.C). At 80 nm ligand spacing or greater, only about 10% of integrins are clustered [43]. The reason behind this observation is that when ligand spacing is larger than a threshold of 60 nm, there are less ligands available (L in Rxn. 2) in the designated experiment space for the active integrins (I in Rxn. 1 & 2) to bind while diffusing through the cell membrane, therefore reducing the possibility of integrin clustering (Cin Rxn. 3). Consequently, these in silico results provide a mechanochemical mechanism of the experimental observations that ligand spacing is crucial in adhesion maturation [40,41,43].

Another *in silico* model has achieved a similar result. In their agent-based model (ABM), Jamali *et al.* conclude that ligand spacing has a key role in initiating integrin clustering. More specifically, in an ABM, each element in the system is called an agent and agents interact with each other following particular rules of interaction (i.e. biochemical reactions). Different from ODE-based models, to account for the heterogeneous and stochastic nature of biochemical systems, ABM models assign a certain probability when assessing each interaction between the agents, rather than assigning a particular rate for each reaction [44]. The assigned probabilities of events are calculated based on the observed properties of agents. For example, the agents move to a new location within the model space with a probability that correlates with the actual diffusion coefficient of the molecule each agent represents [44].

The ABM model of integrin clustering also shows that increased affinity between integrin subunits promotes clustering especially when ECM ligand concentration is low [44]. However, both of the models report for a standardized integrin–ligand pair and do not comment on the effects of different reaction rates when considering different integrin–ligand pairs. Yet both models could be made integrin- and ligand-type specific, when the binding energies required for a specific integrin–ligand and integrin–integrin pair would be known.

An interesting remark by Yu *et al.* is that integrin clustering might not only be orchestrated from the ECM side but also from cytosolic side. This is based on the experimental findings of inte-

grin activation being accompanied by talin binding to the  $\beta$  subunit of integrins. Talin is a protein forming the link between integrins and the cytoskeleton and it has also been shown to aid integrin clustering via its head domain [16,43,45]. Therefore, it is exciting to hypothesize that integrin clustering on the membrane is tightly controlled by the ligand organization on the ECM side, but also affected by the events happening in the cytosol, although further research is needed here.

After observing that integrin clustering is mediated by ECM properties and cytosolic factors, an anticipated question is about the role of these integrin clusters in the process of mechanotransduction. A recent spatial Monte Carlo model by Cheng *et al.* suggests that large integrin clusters on the cell membrane are spots for focal adhesion kinase (FAK) phosphorylation. As the substrate stiffness affects the size of the clusters, it directly translates into the level of FAK phosphorylation, hence downstream signaling. They validate their model findings with *in vitro* experiments and show that stiffer substrates result in larger integrin clusters and more phosphorylated FAK is found in cytosol [46]. This model provides an explanation for how different cell types respond to different ECM stiffness and proposes different roles for different integrin types, in accordance with Bidone *et al.* model from 2019 [46].

#### 3.2. Cross-talk between integrins and other membrane receptors

Being on the cell membrane, integrins are known to cooperate with other cell membrane receptors to serve their crucial role in regulating biological events, like cell migration and proliferation. Transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) receptor, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) receptor, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor, bone morphogenic protein 2 (BMP-2) receptor are, for example, known partners of integrins [14,47].

Experimental observations indicate the stabilization of VEGF receptor activity upon interaction with integrin  $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_3$  during angiogenesis. It is also known that a protein kinase, Src, is a mediator between the two receptors [15]. Yet the exact mechanism of action of this cooperation could not be revealed by *in vitro* methods. A kinetic rule-based ODE model by Bazzazi *et al.* investigated the mechanisms behind this cross-talk.

The *in silico* model of Bazzazi *et al.* consists of four species: integrin  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  as a single entity, VEGF receptor, VEGF and Src kinase. Integrin and VEGF receptor are assumed to be pre-associated with each other in an inactive state in order to avoid the complication of modeling the physical proximity of the molecules. The following set of rules defines the biological actions in the model: 1) VEGF binding to VEGF receptor, 2) VEGF receptor activation by autophosphorylation, 3) internalization and degradation of VEGF-bound VEGF receptor, 4) activation of Src, 5) integrin activation by phosphorylation by Src, and 6) active integrin–active VEGF receptor association at a second site. They obtain the parameter values by fitting the model to a consistent set of experimental studies and further perform a sensitivity analysis to identify the most sensitive parameters and thereby the most essential step in the reaction set [48].

From the global sensitivity analysis, the rate of internalization and degradation of the VEGF receptor is approximately 400-fold lower when it is associated to the active integrin than when they are not associated. In other words, the underlying mechanism of stabilization of VEGF receptor activity by integrin is via slowing the degradation process of the VEGF receptor (Bazzazi et al. 2018, Fig. 3.D). This model cannot be generalized to every integrin and associated receptor, but it is one of the few attempts in explaining the mechanism behind cross-talk between integrins and other receptors in angiogenesis and is therefore of great value. Another *in silico* model deals with receptor cross-talk but is focused on the interactive effects of the two receptors in downstream signaling, rather than the receptor-integrin kinetics [49]. Therefore, it will be discussed in the appropriate section below.

## 4. Integrin function in the cytosol

The third level of integrin function is in the cytosol, where external cues are translated into biochemical signals. Integrin adhesomes, complexes harboring multiple proteins, assemble at the cytoplasmic tails of integrins as the adhesions mature. The composition of the integrin adhesome is cell type specific, however, with an attempt to identify a consensus set, 60 proteins have been found to be crucial in the integrin adhesomes [50,51]. Components of integrin adhesome are responsible for transmitting the signals received from integrins to other parts in the cell, eventually affecting cellular decision-making. There is extensive literature on the molecular biology of signaling pathways where integrins are involved as well as their effect on cell behavior [45,52]. Here, we focus on *in silico* methods that quantitatively explore the action mechanism of cellular events in response to integrin function.

#### 4.1. Signaling activities

Active and ligand-bound integrins, via the multiprotein complexes at their cytoplasmic tails, are known to activate focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and start a signaling cascade that affects cellular behavior, such as motility or proliferation. Players of the growth factor receptor and integrin cascades interact by inhibiting/activating one another in feedback loops. The details of these signaling cascades are out of the scope of this review and can be found in other dedicated reviews [3,45,52]. In the next paragraphs, we review the *in silico* models of integrin signaling and cross-talk.

The association of integrins and growth factor receptors in angiogenesis was mentioned earlier as we explored integrin-VEGF receptor (VEGFR) association that stabilizes VEGFR activity by slowing the receptor degradation [48]. Growth factor binding to growth factor receptors (GFR) promotes proliferation and cell survival mostly via the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signaling pathway. However, growth factor-initiated signaling is not enough for the cell to proliferate. It is also known that cellto-cell communication via cadherins is another factor that ensures proper cell proliferation in presence of growth factors in angiogenesis [53]. These findings suggest cross-talk between the signaling pathways of three cell membrane receptors, namely integrin, VEGFR and cadherin.

Bauer *et al.* explore the interplay between downstream signaling to VEGFR, cadherin and integrin during angiogenesis, with a stochastic Boolean network model. In Boolean networks, molecular species show a binary behavior, i.e. they are either ON or OFF. It is a practical way of modeling when the quantitative kinetic data of particular biochemical reactions is not enough to support an ODE type of model. If the concentration of a molecular species in the model at any time point is above a certain threshold, the species is ON, while the concentrations below the threshold translates into OFF behavior. A "probability of happening" function is added for each molecular interaction in the Bauer *et al.* model, to account for the noise or randomness in signaling cascades.

To test the dependence and additive effects of VEGFR– and integrin–induced signaling while also taking into account the cell-to– cell communication through cadherin signaling, they set the initial states of molecular species to randomly chosen binary sets (ON/ OFF) and report the output states that correspond to the following cell level phenotypes: proliferating, quiescent, migratory and apoptotic. As expected, in the absence of VEGFR or integrin signaling activity, apoptosis is induced. When VEGFR and integrin signaling are both active, they observe one signaling molecule, namely Rac, is of particular importance. In their model, active Rac enables the cells to migrate whereas inactive Rac results in quiescent cells. When they allow cell-to-cell contact together with active VEGFR and integrin signaling and Rac activity, proliferation is observed while cells migrate (Fig. 3.E). While this is contrary to the general assumption of proliferation and migration events being temporally exclusive of each other [54-56], there is evidence of both events happening simultaneously in cancer cells [57]. Wound healing is another process, that requires both cell motility and proliferation, and the predictions from the Bauer *et al.* model might be helpful in that area of biology [58].

Another *in silico* model explores the effect of Rac and related signaling on protrusion velocity at the leading edge of motile cells [59]. It is an ODE-based model with stochastic simulations that reports the protrusion velocity in a dimensionless manner. This model incorporates the modulation of Rac signaling by nascent adhesions via paxillin, which is one of the proteins in the complex that interacts with integrin cytosolic tails. The Cirit *et al.* model also confirms the positive correlation between Rac activity and cell protrusion in case of nascent adhesion between the cell and the ECM.

In addition to modeling the cellular response to integrin-related signaling, the dynamic assembly-disassembly of the integrin adhesome is another area in biology that can benefit from computational methods. Exploring the composition of the adhesomes at the time of assembly and disassembly via proteomics analyses revealed that integrin presence is stable throughout the assembly-disassembly (30 min). However, adaptor proteins between integrins and actin cytoskeleton leave the assembly in about 15 min and with different kinetics [50]. The distinct binding-unbinding kinetics of adhesome proteins have been studied experimentally using techniques like fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP) [60,61]. Computational modeling can help to interpret these experimental findings by simulating various hypotheses on the assembly and disassembly of the integrin adhesome, complementing the previous work on functional network identification of the integrin adhesome [50,51,62,63]

#### 4.2. Cytoskeletal remodeling

Integrin and downstream signaling activities directly affect cell motility as summarized above. Yet, the physical connection of integrins to the actin cytoskeleton (Fig. 1) is crucial for the cell to actively change its shape to accommodate motility. During protrusion, the actin cytoskeleton actively changes shape and length. Actin-linked integrins are subjected to myosin-mediated forces while still being linked to the ECM proteins on their ectodomains. At this point, when integrins are already bound to their ligands and to the actin cytoskeleton, understanding the effect of push and pull forces on integrins is as important as understanding the effect of ECM properties on the cell shape and migration. For this reason, most of the computational efforts on modeling of the cytoskeletal remodeling and cell shape changes focuses on the mechanics of the process, and some of these efforts have been nicely reviewed [27]. Here, we mention two in silico models that are at the molecular level and focus more on the biochemical reaction dynamics. Importantly, both of these in silico models do not treat integrins as individual entities but either as a complex always bound to its ligand [64] or as an inseparable part of a bigger adhesion complex [65].

The ODE-based model by Macdonald *et al.* considers the binding–unbinding events between three main species: actin filaments, integrin receptor bound to a ligand on the ECM and a linker complex that theoretically contains all the proteins linking the integrins to the actin cytoskeleton. All three species can combine to form complexes of 2 or 3 among them. The effect of the force exerted on the linkages between the integrin–linker complex and actin is modeled in two ways: 1) negatively by increasing the dissociation rate constants of all possible complexes 2) positively by reinforcing the bond between the species in the actin–linker–integ rin complex. This opposing effect of force on linkages creates a biphasic scenario when steady-state levels of each species are observed at changing levels of force  $(10^{-12} \text{ to } 10^{-10}\text{N})$ . Lower levels of force exerted on actin/integrin linkages results in a higher number of actin–linker–integrin complexes than when under high force levels. A force of  $10^{-10}$ N causes the breakage of linkages, while a force of  $10^{-12}$ N strengthens the linkages [64] (Fig. 3.F).

A rather more sophisticated model of actin remodeling is described by Escribano *et al.* They modelled the ECM with a discrete number of ligands on it, the adhesion complex that is representative of the integrin and the linker proteins in the cytosol, the actin filaments with changing length and the myosin motor proteins of which the number affects the amount of the pull force. At high levels of pull force (i.e. high number of myosin proteins on the actin filaments), this *in silico* model proposes an increased velocity for the actin filaments [65]. This is in accordance with the previous model of MacDonald *et al.*, as increased velocity requires increased turnover rate for the bonds between adhesion molecules and the ECM.

As force measurements at the cellular level are better established to date than measurements at the single molecular level (that are required to measure rates of integrin clustering, for example), these type of models have a bigger pool of experimental data for validation (see also discussion section). Findings of both models described here have been validated experimentally [66,67].

#### 5. Conclusion and outlook

As understood from the many different methods mentioned here, there is no single truth when it comes to computational modeling of integrin function. There are multiple ways to model integrin function, each with their advantages and disadvantages, and often determined by the particular research question. In fact, this is valid for all attempts to computational modeling of biological systems. The level of complexity and nonlinearity in biological systems make it necessary to reduce the system to its essential components (and thus to simplify), while the ever growing possibilities in mathematical and computational methods create new avenues of exploration.

The computational models that address integrin function up to date, capture -to some extend-the nature of events at the cell-ECM interface, albeit focusing on particular processes at distinct scales. In silico models of the binding between integrins and their ECM ligands provides an understanding of the binding kinetics and reflect how the kinetics can change with changing ECM conditions [8]. These models, usually expressed as ODEs, fall short on spatial aspects of ligand binding as they do not factor in the spatial variations. Models of integrin clustering, provide an explanation for the experimental observations that ligand spacing is a limiting step in the process of integrin clustering [43,44]. Yet the model geometry is always a rather simplified "square" or "round" area. The majority of computational studies on integrins have captured integrins in general, without specifying the particular subtypes. Simplifications have also been made about the interaction partners of integrins. Models of integrin-ligand binding assume integrin binding to one ligand at a time whereas in reality one integrin has affinity for binding to multiple ligands in the ECM, resulting in ligand binding competition. On the cytosolic side, large signaling pathways have been simplified to Boolean network models that account for key molecules such as Rac [49] whose activity can explain certain phenotypes. Yet, these types of models lack the numerical details ODE type of models can provide, and in particular, the kinetic rates

of the underlying processes. Altogether, *in silico* models of integrin function, provide mathematical explanations to the interactions between integrins and their ligands, integrins and other cell membrane receptors and integrins among themselves.

In this review, we highlighted the in silico models that focus on the chemical reaction dynamics of integrin-related cellular events. However, as integrins are "physical anchor" points between the ECM and the cytoskeleton, they are central to mechanosensitive cellular processes. These include the cellular responses to external mechanical cues like increased proliferation and motility on stiff substrates [7]. In order to explain the roles of integrins in mechanotransduction, computational models have been developed from a more mechanical point of view as well. For example, Chan and Odde 2008, introduced the "molecular clutch" model of focal adhesions and explained the biphasic behavior of filopodia in response to mechanical stiffness of the environment [66]. Molecular clutch model represents the engagement between the ECM and the actin cytoskeleton, which resists actin retrograde flow powered by myosins. On stiff substrate, low traction force results in high retrograde flow thus increased protrusion. On the contrary, on soft substrate, high traction force reduces the actin retrograde flow and the protrusion rate of the filpodia [20,66]. This molecular clutch behavior has been adapted by many others and further developed. Ligandbound integrin molecules (i.e. clutches) have been usually modeled as springs and as a part of a bigger architectural complex in these purely mechanical models. Using the molecular clutch principle, Oria et al. have explained the link between adhesion formation and rigidity-dependent ligand spacing sensing of the cells [68]. We refer the reader to [69] for a nice overview of the molecular clutch hypothesis.

To further the field of integrin biology, a crucial next step, in our opinion, is to combine the computational models that focus on chemical reaction networks with mechanical models. An example of such initiative is the work of Shuaib et al. where they introduced the concept of a hybrid mechanical-agent-based model for bone tissue mechanotransduction. The agent-based model predicts the cytosolic production of ECM proteins, influenced amongst others by the mechanical and compositional inputs of the ECM. These compositional changes of the ECM alter the properties of the mechanical model, which in turn affects the input parameters for the agent-based model [70]. Such hybrid models are promising, yet can be challenging due to their multi-scale nature. The next paragraphs detail the next steps for modeling the function of integrins computationally, both from a biological perspective as a technical point of view including the challenges of multiscale and multiphysics modeling.

## 5.1. Overcoming biological challenges

Modeling the behavior of different types of integrins is one area that is open for exploration. Only four of the models mentioned here (namely; [8,21,46,48]) account for the integrin subtypespecific ligand binding or clustering properties. However, a deeper understanding of differences between integrin subtypes will be helpful in understanding their distinct roles at the cell-ECM interface and therefore cell type-specific integrin expression [10]. Related to this, the competition of multiple ligands with affinity for binding to the same integrin type (Fig. 2) represents an important model extension as it allows to understand the reasons of various ECM compositions per tissue and to reverse engineer synthetic matrices (see also below) [71]. Another area of exploration that is biologically relevant is the cross-talk between other cell surface receptors and integrins. For example, it is known that integrins play a central role in activation of TGF- $\beta$  in ECM, but the interactions between the TGF- $\beta$  receptors (an RTK) and integrins have not been fully understood [72,73]. Another example of integrin cross-talk is with syndecan receptors. Syndecans are transmembrane proteins which often serve as coreceptors, for example by recruiting ligands for other receptors [74]. Especially cross-talk between syndecan-4 and integrins is shown to enhance interactions between the ECM and cytoskeleton [75]. Computational modeling could help unravel the underlying mechanism of action in this cross-talk.

In terms of extending the biological scope of the models, one major challenge in modeling integrin subtypes is in obtaining accurate quantitative measures (i.e. the parameters for the model) on each subtype. It is generally difficult to isolate and quantify transmembrane proteins intact and in desired conformations and integrins are not an exception [2,76]. Therefore, for ODE models that require absolute concentration of inactive and/or active integrins on the cell membrane (e.g. Equations (1), (2), (3), the limiting step is obtaining these dynamic quantitative measures. To tackle this challenge, experimental scientists apply indirect ways of measuring the density of integrins on the cell membrane. For instance a good example is by Elosegui-Artola et al. 2014, where they measure the fluorescence intensity of cells when they are bound to rhodamine-labeled fibronectin via integrins on the cell surface. The fluorescence level is then converted into concentration, using the level of emitted fluorescence by known concentrations of fibronectin for their experiment. Another challenge, especially on the way to increase the specificity of the computational models in terms of integrin-ligand pairs, is measuring integrin-ligand binding/unbinding rates. This usually requires sophisticated techniques like surface plasmon resonance (SPR) [77-79] or single molecule dynamic force spectroscopy [80]. These techniques are not available to all molecular biology labs and require operational expertise as well as very technical equipment. There is an evident need of collaboration between computational and experimental scientists to unravel the unknowns of integrin function.

We propose for the case of computational models of integrin function, experimental biomaterial design is a field where the complementary model-experiment cycle can be established and maintained. In particular, by using modular, synthetic materials, the influence of distinct microenvironment components (e.g. mechanical information, (fractions) of ligand types and ligand concentration) on integrin binding can be assessed individually [81]. Also, these precisely-defined, tunable materials allow for the measuring of binding strength of specific integrin-ligand pairs by SPR, since the ligands could be isolated and exactly controlled in concentration. Synthetic supramolecular assemblies have great promise for this, because their monomeric building blocks could be functionalized with bioactive cues to easily introduce function using a modular approach [82,83]. Noteworthy, the type of supramolecular base material that is used to present the integrin-binding supramolecular additives (i.e. RGD or cyclic (c)RGD conjugated to the corresponding supramolecular motif) affects cell adhesion properties; a bisurea (BU)-based material presents the additives more effectively over a ureido-pyrimidinone (UPy)-system [84]. Also the ligand concentration influences integrin-binding properties, as an increasing concentration of accessible cRGD leads to more FA formation with a decreased size. Furthermore, ligand type effects integrin targeting, since different ligands contain different binding affinities for certain integrin dimers [85]; it was shown that substrates containing the higher affinity ligand cRGD led to a two times higher cell attachment rate and had twice the number of FAs than the cells cultured on substrates with its linear equivalent. Another example of modular, integrin-targeting materials is synthetic peptide amphiphiles (PAs) as pioneered by the research group of Stupp. Here they for example employed bioactive PAs bearing the fibronectin-derived RGDS-motif as scaffold for stem cell delivery [86]. Next to this, Mardilovich et al. designed PAs decorated with fibronectin-derived integrin-binding motifs GRGDS

and its synergistic PHSRN sequence in a spatially controlled manner that matched the natural distance found in fibronectin [87]. They observed similar cell behavior for the synthetic PAs as for the natural fibronectin, and even stronger FA formation and reorganization of the cytoskeleton was found for the PAs. This highlights the importance of using integrin-binding materials with matching spatial organization to its natural counterpart for effective integrin binding. On this note, another class of supramolecular biomaterials in which the spatial organization of integrin-binding motifs can be controlled precisely is DNA origami, owing to its robustness and programmability [88]. To illustrate, Palma et al. designed and synthesized a multi-ligand functionalized, nanoscale particle containing spatially controlled A20FMDV2, an integrin  $\alpha V\beta 6$ -binding motif, and epidermal growth factor (EGF), a protein that binds the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) which is a tyrosine kinase that cooperates closely with integrins [89]. They showed that a ligand spacing of 60 nm and the presence of 3 peptides, so 3 integrins, led to maximum cell attachment. Altogether, these examples illustrate the suitability of tunable, modular biomaterials to isolate and judge the effects of distinct microenvironment elements (e.g. ligand concentration and type as well as spatial organization of ligands) on integrin-binding.

In summary, to push forward the field of integrin biology, we invite the field of biomaterial design and in silico modeling to come together and think about relevant biological questions and hypotheses to unravel in an iterative loop of simulation and experimental validation [25]. On one hand, in silico models could help in predicting the performance of biomaterials which are suitable in steering a desired cellular outcome. In this way, not the full library of materials is required to be synthesized and assessed, but only a relevant range, thereby minimizing research time, effort and costs. While on the other hand, it is the experimental side that could complement in silico integrin models, by both providing input values (e.g. binding rates between ligand-integrin receptor) for the computational integrin models and by serving as validation for the model outcomes. In this way, the experimental and computational worlds on integrins should come to a closed cycle that complete one another.

#### 5.2. Overcoming computational challenges

Finally, we turn to our perspective towards what lies ahead for the computational field. In particular, there are three areas where we stand to make significant progress. Firstly, to fully understand and help unravel the biology of integrin function, it is essential, in our opinion, to computationally integrate all three layers of action spatially and temporally. In the current computational models, we obtain separate snapshots of events happening at the three distinct spatial layers. However, to be able to simulate and predict all the mechanical interactions and chemical reactions happening, starting with the binding of integrins to the ECM ligands up to the cell's behavioral reaction (e.g. proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis etc.), we will need computational models that combine the mechanochemical integrin actions at the three spatial levels. Modeling the biochemical processes and the mechanical responses of the cytoskeleton as well as the complex mechanochemical feedbacks that emerge from integrin signaling is challenging due to, amongst others, the following technical challenges:

 The biochemical reactions occurring downstream of the integrin receptors are fundamentally stochastic in nature (e.g. small copy numbers), resulting in local gradients and heterogeneities. Although various algorithms exist for stochastic simulations [90,91], they become computationally intractable for large chemical reaction networks with many species;

- 2) Eukaryotic cells consist of three main kinds of cytoskeletal filaments: microfilaments (actin, 7 nm diameter), microtubules (tubulin, 25 nm diameter) and intermediate filaments (various proteins, 12 nm diameter). Ideally, one would like to represent the exact filamentary network, meaning that all three types of individual fibrils must be discretized at sufficient resolution to resolve the biochemical reactions with the cytoskeleton as well as calculate an accurate mechanical force field (which in turn results in remodeling of the cytoskeletal network);
- 3) The interesting mechanical and biochemical phenomena take place at the nanometer scale whereas the emergent behavior occurs at the micrometer scale. As such, there is a need to scale-up the simulations in a computational efficient way while retaining the required spatial resolution;
- 4) Integrin–ligand binding occurs within seconds whereas adhesion maturation requires minutes. Downstream events in the cytosol, from signaling and actin cytoskeleton reorganization to cellular differentiation, can take hours to days to weeks. Similarly to the spatial scale, systems with reactions that operate at very different time scales require advanced numerical methods since otherwise every single fast reaction would need to be simulated, requiring a huge computational effort [26].

Much progress has been made, including optimized numerical algorithms to efficiently solve sparse reaction–diffusion networks [92,93], software packages to simulate active cytoskeleton network dynamics [94] and advanced hybrid and multiscale techniques to couple various spatial and temporal scales [95,96]. The idea behind the hybrid and multiscale techniques is to partition the system into different spatial or temporal scales and then apply different simulation methods that better fit the scales (e.g. stochastic at the intracellular level, deterministic reaction–diffusion at the tissue level). However, as the partitioning and linking (after the simulation step) introduces errors, it is necessary to develop advanced methods that allow linking different scales in an accurate manner.

Secondly, we are in the age of parallel computing with advanced (parallelized) numerical methods to fully leverage this power. Parallelized calculations can be done on a multicore desktop computer, on high-performance clusters or using cloud computing services. The new hardware developments, including advanced graphical processing units (GPUs) are rapidly increasing the computational power. At the same time, many software plugins are becoming available for Matlab [97], Python [98], etc. to exploit the power of graphical processing units (GPUs), greatly reducing the computational time.

Thirdly, due to the nature of computational studies - written in a computer-readable coding language - it is possible to easily extend existing *in silico* models or to combine elements of different models to create a new model with larger spatial and temporal scope. However as in experimental studies, for a computational model to be revisited and potentially extended by other scientists than the original authors, the model should be reproducible. There exist many exciting initiatives such as model software repositories (e.g. VCell DB [https://vcell.org/], BioModels [https://www.ebi.ac. uk/biomodels/], CellML repository [https://www.cellml.org/]) and collaborations between publishers and the Center for Reproducible Biomedical Modeling (https://reproduciblebiomodels.org/) to check, increase and maintain reproducibility at the peer-review stage in publication process [99].

All in all, we believe such practices will help the computational biology field to become more accessible and that through *in silico-in vitro* collaboration we will gain a great amount of fundamental knowledge on integrin biology.

## **CRediT authorship contribution statement**

**Zeynep Karagöz:** Conceptualization, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. **Laura Rijns:** Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. **Patricia Y.W. Dankers:** Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition. **Martijn van Griensven:** Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing, Supervision. **Aurélie Carlier:** Conceptualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing, Supervision, Funding acquisition.

## **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

## Acknowledgements

This research was financially supported by the Gravitation Program "Materials Driven Regeneration", funded by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (024.003.013). AC kindly acknowledges the Dutch province of Limburg in the LINK (FCL67723) ("Limburg INvesteert in haar Kenniseconomie") knowledge economy project. We would like to thank Hang Nguyen for providing excellent writing assistance.

## References

- Hynes RO, Zhao Q. The evolution of cell adhesion. J Cell Biol 2000;150:F89–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.150.2.f89</u>.
- [2] Hynes RO. The emergence of integrins: a personal and historical perspective. Matrix Biol 2004;23(6):333–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2004.08.001</u>.
- [3] Miller AE, Hu P, Barker TH. Feeling things out: bidirectional signaling of the cell-ECM Interface, implications in the mechanobiology of cell spreading, migration, proliferation, and differentiation. Adv Healthcare Mater 2020;9 (8):1901445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201901445</u>.
- [4] Sun Z, Guo SS, Fässler R. Integrin-mediated mechanotransduction. J Cell Biol 2016;215:445–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201609037</u>.
- Butcher DT, Alliston T, Weaver VM. A tense situation: forcing tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2009;9(2):108–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> nrc2544.
- [6] Cox TR, Erler JT. Remodeling and homeostasis of the extracellular matrix: implications for fibrotic diseases and cancer. Disease Models Mech 2011;4 (2):165–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.004077</u>.
- [7] Handorf AM, Zhou Y, Halanski MA, Li W-J. Tissue stiffness dictates development, homeostasis, and disease progression. Organogenesis 2015;11 (1):1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15476278.2015.1019687</u>.
- [8] Hudson SV, Dolin CE, Poole LG, Massey VL, Wilkey D, Beier JI, Merchant ML, Frieboes HB, Arteel GE. Modeling the kinetics of integrin receptor binding to hepatic extracellular matrix proteins. Sci Rep 2017;7(1). <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-017-12691-y</u>.
- Hynes R. Integrins: A family of cell surface receptors. Cell 1987;48(4):549–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(87)90233-9.
- [10] Barczyk M, Carracedo S, Gullberg D. Integrins. Cell Tissue Res 2010;339 (1):269-80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-009-0834-6</u>.
- [11] Hynes RO. Integrins Cell 2002;110(6):673–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00971-6.</u>
- [12] Humphries JD, Byron A, Humphries MJ. Integrin ligands at a glance. J Cell Sci 2006;119:3901-3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.03098</u>.
- [13] Eyckmans J, Boudou T, Yu X, Chen C. A Hitchhiker's guide to mechanobiology. Dev Cell 2011;21(1):35–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.devcel.2011.06.015</u>.
- [14] Eliceiri BP. Integrin and growth factor receptor crosstalk. Circ Res 2001;89 (12):1104–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/hb2401.101084</u>.
- [15] Mahabeleshwar GH, Feng W, Reddy K, Plow EF, Byzova TV. Mechanisms of integrin-vascular endothelial growth factor receptor cross-activation in angiogenesis. Circ Res 2007;101(6):570–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.107.155655</u>.
- [16] Critchley DR, Gingras AR. Talin at a glance. J Cell Sci 2008;121(9):1345–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.018085.</u>
- [17] Karimi F, O'Connor AJ, Qiao GG, Heath DE. Integrin clustering matters: a review of biomaterials functionalized with multivalent integrin-binding ligands to improve cell adhesion, migration, differentiation, angiogenesis, and biomedical device integration. Adv Healthcare Mater 2018;7(12):1701324. https://doi.org/10.1002/adhm.201701324.
- [18] Werner M, Kurniawan NA, Bouten CVC. Cellular geometry sensing at different length scales and its implications for scaffold design. Materials (Basel) 2020;13:963. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma13040963</u>.

- [19] Almouemen N, Kelly HM, O'Leary C. Tissue engineering: understanding the role of biomaterials and biophysical forces on cell functionality through computational and structural biotechnology analytical methods. Comput. Struct Biotechnol J 2019;17:591–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbi.2019.04.008</u>
- [20] Cheng B, Lin M, Huang G, Li Y, Ji B. Cellular mechanosensing of the biophysical microenvironment: A review of mathematical models of biophysical regulation of cell responses. Phys Life Rev 2017;22–23:88–119. <u>https://doi. org/10.1016/i.plrev.2017.06.016</u>.
- [21] Bidone TC, Skeeters AV, Oakes PW, Voth GA. Multiscale model of integrin adhesion assembly. PLoS Comput Biol 2019;15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007077</u>.
- [22] Huttenlocher A, Horwitz AR. Integrins in cell migration. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2011;3:1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a005074</u>.
- [23] Scholma J, Schivo S, Urquidi Camacho RA, van de Pol J, Karperien M, Post JN. Biological networks 101: Computational modeling for molecular biologists. Gene 2014;533(1):379–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2013.10.010</u>.
- [24] Brodland GW. How computational models can help unlock biological systems. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2015;47-48:62-73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.07.001</u>.
- [25] Voit E, Qi Z, Miller G. Steps of modeling complex biological systems. Pharmacopsychiatry 2008;41(S 01):S78-84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2008-1080911</u>.
- [26] Chen B, Ji B, Gao H. Modeling active mechanosensing in cell-matrix interactions. Annu Rev Biophys 2015;44(1):1-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/</u> annurev-biophys-051013-023102.
- [27] Holmes WR, Edelstein-Keshet L, Glazier JA. A comparison of computational models for eukaryotic cell shape and motility. PLoS Comput Biol 2012;8(12): e1002793. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002793.t001</u>.
- [28] Choi K, Medley JK, König M, Stocking K, Smith L, Gu S, Sauro HM. Tellurium: An extensible python-based modeling environment for systems and synthetic biology. Biosystems 2018;171:74–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biosystems.2018.07.006</u>.
- [29] Poole W, Pandey A, Shur A, Tuza ZA, Murray RM. BioCRNpyler: Compiling chemical reaction networks from biomolecular parts in diverse contexts. BioRxiv 2020;2020(08). <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.08.02.233478</u>.
- [30] Rn Starruß J, De Back W, Brusch L, Deutsch A. Morpheus: a user-friendly modeling environment for multiscale and multicellular systems biology 2014;30:1331–2. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btt772.
- [31] Vasilevich AS, Carlier A, de Boer J, Singh S. How not to drown in data: a guide for biomaterial engineers. Trends Biotechnol 2017;35(8):743-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2017.05.007</u>.
- [32] Lee C-K, Wang Y-M, Huang L-S, Lin S. Atomic force microscopy: Determination of unbinding force, off rate and energy barrier for protein-ligand interaction. Micron 2007;38(5):446-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micron.2006.06.014</u>.
- [33] Blucher A, Salas M, Williams N, Callender H. Mathematical modeling of integrin dynamics in initial formation of focal adhesions. Involv a J Math 2014;7:509–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.2140/involve.2014.7.509</u>.
- [34] Massey VL, Dolin CE, Poole LG, Hudson SV, Siow DL, Brock GN, Merchant ML, Wilkey DW, Arteel GE. The hepatic "matrisome" responds dynamically to injury: Characterization of transitional changes to the extracellular matrix in mice: Massey, Dolin, et al., Hepatology 2017;65(3):969–82. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/hep.28918</u>.
- [35] Li J, Su Y, Xia W, Qin Y, Humphries MJ, Vestweber D, Cabañas C, Lu C, Springer TA. Conformational equilibria and intrinsic affinities define integrin activation. EMBO J 2017;36(5):629–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201695803</u>.
- [36] Bidone TC, Polley A, Jin J, Driscoll T, Iwamoto DV, Calderwood DA, Schwartz MA, Voth GA. Coarse-grained simulation of full-length integrin activation. Biophys J 2019;116(6):1000–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2019.02.011</u>.
- [37] Chen W, Lou J, Hsin J, Schulten K, Harvey SC, Zhu C. Molecular dynamics simulations of forced unbending of integrin αVβ3. PLOS Comput Biol 2011;7. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PCBI.1001086.
- [38] van der Flier A, Sonnenberg A. Function and interactions of integrins. Cell Tissue Res 2001;305(3):285–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s004410100417</u>.
- [39] Huang J, Peng X, Xiong C, Fang J. Influence of substrate rigidity on primary nucleation of cell adhesion: A thermal fluctuation model. J Colloid Interface Sci 2012;366(1):200–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2011.09.046</u>.
- [40] Ye K, Wang X, Cao L, Li S, Li Z, Yu L, Ding J. Matrix stiffness and nanoscale spatial organization of cell-adhesive ligands direct stem cell fate. Nano Lett 2015;15(7):4720-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.5b01619</u>.
- [41] Arnold M, Cavalcanti-Adam EA, Glass R, Blümmel J, Eck W, Kantlehner M, Kessler H, Spatz JP. Activation of integrin function by nanopatterned adhesive interfaces. ChemPhysChem 2004;5(3):383–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ cphc.200301014</u>.
- [42] Johnston I. The chaos within: exploring noise in cellular biology. Significance 2012;9(4):17–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1740-9713.2012.00586.x</u>.
- [43] Yu J, Huang J, Jansen JA, Xiong C, Walboomers XF. Mechanochemical mechanism of integrin clustering modulated by nanoscale ligand spacing and rigidity of extracellular substrates. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater 2017;72:29–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmbbm.2017.04.018</u>.
- [44] Jamali Y, Jamali T, Mofrad MRK. An agent based model of integrin clustering: Exploring the role of ligand clustering, integrin homo-oligomerization, integrin-ligand affinity, membrane crowdedness and ligand mobility. J Comput Phys 2013;244:264–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcp.2012.09.010</u>.
- [45] Bouaouina M, Harburger DS, Calderwood DA. Talin signaling through integrins methods. Mol Biol 2011;757:325–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-166-6 20</u>. NIH Public Access.

- [46] Cheng Bo, Wan W, Huang G, Li Y, Genin GM, Mofrad MRK, Lu TJ, Xu F, Lin M. Nanoscale integrin cluster dynamics controls cellular mechanosensing via FAKY397 phosphorylation. Sci Adv 2020;6(10):eaax1909. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1126/sciadv.aax1909</u>.
- [47] Porter JC, Hogg N. Integrins take partners : cross-talk between integrins and other membrane receptors 1998;8924.
- [48] Bazzazi H, Zhang Yu, Jafarnejad M, Popel AS. Computational modeling of synergistic interaction between αVβ3 integrin and VEGFR2 in endothelial cells: Implications for the mechanism of action of angiogenesis-modulating integrin-binding peptides. J Theor Biol 2018;455:212–21. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jtbi.2018.06.029</u>.
- [49] Bauer AL, Jackson TL, Jiang Yi, Rohlf T. Receptor cross-talk in angiogenesis: Mapping environmental cues to cell phenotype using a stochastic, Boolean signaling network model. J Theor Biol 2010;264(3):838–46. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jtbi.2010.03.025</u>.
- [50] Horton ER, Byron A, Askari JA, Ng DHJ, Millon-Frémillon A, Robertson J, et al. Definition of a consensus integrin adhesome and its dynamics during adhesion complex assembly and disassembly. Nat Cell Biol 2015;17:1577–87. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1038/ncb3257</u>.
- [51] Horton ER, Humphries JD, James J, Jones MC, Askari JA, Humphries MJ. The integrin adhesome network at a glance. J Cell Sci 2016;129(22):4159–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.192054</u>.
- [52] Harburger DS, Calderwood DA. Integrin signalling at a glance. J Cell Sci 2009;122(2):159–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.018093</u>.
- [53] Zanetti A, Lampugnani MG, Balconi G, Breviario F, Corada M, Lanfrancone L, Dejana E. Vascular endothelial growth factor induces Shc association with vascular endothelial cadherin: a potential feedback mechanism to control vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 signaling. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002;22(4):617–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01. ATV.0000012268.84961.AD</u>.
- [54] Gao C-F, Xie Q, Su Y-L, Koeman J, Khoo SK, Gustafson M, Knudsen BS, Hay R, Shinomiya N, Woude GFV. Proliferation and invasion: Plasticity in tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2005;102(30):10528–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0504367102.</u>
- [55] Giese A, Loo MA, Tran N, Haskett D, Coons SW, Berens ME. Dichotomy of astrocytoma migration and proliferation. Int J Cancer 1996;67:275–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0215(19960717)67:2<275::AID-IJC20>3.0.</u> <u>C0:2-9.</u>
- [56] Hatzikirou H, Basanta D, Simon M, Schaller K, Deutsch A. 'Go or Grow': the key to the emergence of invasion in tumour progression?. Math Med Biol 2012;29 (1):49–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/imammb/dqq011</u>.
- [57] Corcoran A, Del Maestro RF. Testing the "Go or Grow" hypothesis in human medulloblastoma cell lines in two and three dimensions. Neurosurgery 2003;53:174–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1227/01.NEU.0000072442.26349.14</u>.
- [58] Grada A, Otero-Vinas M, Prieto-Castrillo F, Obagi Z, Falanga V. Research techniques made simple: analysis of collective cell migration using the wound healing assay. J Invest Dermatol 2017;137(2):e11–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. iid.2016.11.020</u>.
- [59] Cirit M, Krajcovic M, Choi CK, Welf ES, Horwitz AF, Haugh JM. Stochastic model of integrin-mediated signaling and adhesion dynamics at the leading edges of migrating cells. PLoS Comput Biol 2010;6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000688</u>.
- [60] Lavelin I, Wolfenson H, Patla I, Henis YI, Medalia O, Volberg T, et al. Differential effect of actomyosin relaxation on the dynamic properties of focal adhesion proteins. PLoS One 2013:8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073549.
- [61] Berkovich R, Wolfenson H, Eisenberg S, Ehrlich M, Weiss M, Klafter J, Henis YI, Urbakh M. Accurate quantification of diffusion and binding kinetics of nonintegral membrane proteins by FRAP. Traffic 2011;12:1648–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/i.1600-0854.2011.01264.x</u>.
- [62] O'Brien KT, Golla K, Kranjc T, O'Donovan D, Allen S, Maguire P, et al. Computational and experimental analysis of bioactive peptide linear motifs in the integrin adhesome. PLoS One 2019;14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210337</u>.
- [63] Zaidel-Bar R, Itzkovitz S, Ma'ayan A, Iyengar R, Geiger B. Functional atlas of the integrin adhesome. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9(8):858–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncb0807-858</u>.
- [64] Macdonald A, Horwitz AR, Lauffenburger DA. Kinetic model for lamellipodal actin-integrin 'clutch' dynamics. Cell Adhesion Migration 2008;2(2):95–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/cam.2.2.6210</u>.
- [65] Escribano J, Sánchez MT, García-Aznar JM. A discrete approach for modeling cell-matrix adhesions. Comp Part Mech 2014;1(2):117–30. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1007/s40571-014-0006-7.
- [66] Chan CE, Odde DJ. Traction dynamics of filopodia on compliant substrates. Science 2008;322(5908):1687–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science:1163595</u>.
   [67] Schwarz US, Gardel ML. United we stand – integrating the actin cytoskeleton
- [67] Schwarz US, Gardel ML. United we stand integrating the actin cytoskeleton and cell-matrix adhesions in cellular mechanotransduction. J Cell Sci 2012;125(13):3051–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/ics.093716</u>.
- [68] Oria R, Wiegand T, Escribano J, Elosegui-Artola A, Uriarte JJ, Moreno-Pulido C, Platzman I, Delcanale P, Albertazzi L, Navajas D, Trepat X, García-Aznar JM, Cavalcanti-Adam EA, Roca-Cusachs P. Force loading explains spatial sensing of ligands by cells. Nature 2017;552(7684):219–24. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature24662</u>.
- [69] Elosegui-Artola A, Trepat X, Roca-Cusachs P. Control of mechanotransduction by molecular clutch dynamics. Trends Cell Biol 2018;28(5):356–67. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.tcb.2018.01.008</u>.

- [70] Shuaib A, Motan D, Bhattacharya P, McNabb A, Skerry TM, Lacroix D. Heterogeneity in the mechanical properties of integrins determines mechanotransduction dynamics in bone osteoblasts. Sci Rep 2019;9(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47958-z.</u>
- [71] Gjorevski N, Sachs N, Manfrin A, Giger S, Bragina ME, Ordóñez-Morán P, Clevers H, Lutolf MP. Designer matrices for intestinal stem cell and organoid culture. Nature 2016;539(7630):560–4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20168</u>.
- [72] Margadant C, Sonnenberg A. Integrin–TGF-β crosstalk in fibrosis, cancer and wound healing. EMBO Rep 2010;11(2):97–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> embor.2009.276.
- [73] Worthington JJ, Klementowicz JE, Travis MA. TGFβ: a sleeping giant awoken by integrins. Trends Biochem Sci 2011;36(1):47–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tibs.2010.08.002</u>.
- [74] Couchman JR. Syndecans: proteoglycan regulators of cell-surface microdomains?. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003;4(12):926–38. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1038/nrm1257.
- [75] Elfenbein A, Simons M. Syndecan-4 signaling at a glance. J Cell Sci 2013;126 (17):3799-804. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.124636</u>.
- [76] Chen Y, Munteanu A, Huang Y-F, Phillips J, Zhu Z, Mavros M, Tan W. Mapping receptor density on live cells by using fluorescence correlation spectroscopy. Chem Eur J 2009;15(21):5327–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/chem. 200802305.</u>
- [77] Kim JK, Xu Yi, Xu X, Keene DR, Gurusiddappa S, Liang X, Wary KK, Höök M. A novel binding site in collagen type III for Integrins α 1 β 1 and α 2 β 1. J Biol Chem 2005;280(37):32512–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M502431200</u>.
- [78] Elosegui-Artola A, Bazellières E, Allen MD, Andreu I, Oria R, Sunyer R, Gomm JJ, Marshall JF, Jones JL, Trepat X, Roca-Cusachs P. Rigidity sensing and adaptation through regulation of integrin types. Nature Mater 2014;13(6):631–7. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1038/nmat3960</u>.
- [79] Yan B, Calderwood DA, Yaspan B, Ginsberg MH. Calpain cleavage promotes talin binding to the β 3 integrin cytoplasmic domain. J Biol Chem 2001;276 (30):28164–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M104161200</u>.
- [80] Taubenberger A, Cisneros DA, Friedrichs J, Puech P-H, Muller DJ, Franz CM, Schwarzbauer J. Revealing early steps of α 2 β 1 integrin-mediated adhesion to collagen type I by using single-cell force spectroscopy. MBoC 2007;18 (5):1634-44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e06-09-0777</u>.
- [81] Gjorevski N, Ranga A, Lutolf MP. Bioengineering approaches to guide stem cellbased organogenesis. Development 2014;141(9):1794–804. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1242/dev.101048</u>.
- [82] Dankers PYW, Boomker JM, Huizinga-van der Vlag A, Wisse E, Appel WPJ, Smedts FMM, Harmsen MC, Bosman AW, Meijer W, van Luyn MJA. Bioengineering of living renal membranes consisting of hierarchical, bioactive supramolecular meshes and human tubular cells. Biomaterials 2011;32(3):723–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2010.09.020</u>.
- [83] Mollet BB, Comellas-Aragonès M, Spiering AJH, Söntjens SHM, Meijer EW, Dankers PYW. A modular approach to easily processable supramolecular bilayered scaffolds with tailorable properties. J Mater Chem B 2014;2 (17):2483-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C3TB21516D</u>.

- [84] van Gaal RC, Buskermolen ABC, Ippel BD, Fransen P-P, Zaccaria S, Bouten CVC, Dankers PYW. Functional peptide presentation on different hydrogen bonding biomaterials using supramolecular additives. Biomaterials 2019;224:119466. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2019.119466.
- [85] Kato M, Mrksich M. using model substrates to study the dependence of focal adhesion formation on the affinity of integrin–ligand complexes †. Biochemistry 2004;43(10):2699–707. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/bi0352670</u>.
- [86] Webber MJ, Tongers J, Renault M-A, Roncalli JG, Losordo DW, Stupp SI. Development of bioactive peptide amphiphiles for therapeutic cell delivery. Acta Biomater 2010;6(1):3–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.actbio.2009.07.031</u>.
- [87] Mardilovich A, Craig JA, McCammon MQ, Garg A, Kokkoli E. Design of a novel fibronectin-mimetic peptide-amphiphile for functionalized biomaterials. Langmuir 2006;22(7):3259-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/la052756n</u>.
- [88] Seeman NC. Nanomaterials based on DNA. Annu Rev Biochem 2010;79 (1):65–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-060308-102244</u>.
- [89] Huang Da, Patel K, Perez-Garrido S, Marshall JF, Palma M. DNA origami nanoarrays for multivalent investigations of cancer cell spreading with nanoscale spatial resolution and single-molecule control. ACS Nano 2019;13 (1):728–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.8b08010.s001</u>.
- [90] Simoni G, Reali F, Priami C, Marchetti L. Stochastic simulation algorithms for computational systems biology: Exact, approximate, and hybrid methods. WIRES Syst Biol Med 2019;11(6). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wsbm.1459</u>.
- [91] Székely Jr T, Burrage K. Stochastic simulation in systems biology. Comput Struct Biotechnol J 2014;12(20-21):14-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. csbi.2014.10.003</u>.
- [92] Gibson MA, Bruck J. Efficient exact stochastic simulation of chemical systems with many species and many channels. J Phys Chem A 2000;104(9):1876–89. https://doi.org/10.1021/jp993732q.
- [93] Cao Y, Li H, Petzold L. Efficient formulation of the stochastic simulation algorithm for chemically reacting systems. J Chem Phys 2004;121(9):4059–67. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.1778376.
- [94] Popov K, Komianos J, Papoian GA. MEDYAN: mechanochemical simulations of contraction and polarity alignment in actomyosin networks. PLoS Comput Biol 2016;12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1004877</u>.
- [95] Smith CA, Yates CA. Spatially extended hybrid methods: a review. J R Soc Interface: 2018;15(139):20170931. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2017.0931</u>.
- [96] Herajy M, Liu F, Rohr C, Heiner M. Snoopy's hybrid simulator: A tool to construct and simulate hybrid biological models. BMC Syst Biol 2017;11:1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12918-017-0449-6</u>.
- [97] Klingbeil G, Erban R, Giles M, Maini PK. STOCHSIMGPU: parallel stochastic simulation for the Systems Biology Toolbox 2 for MATLAB. Bioinformatics 2011;27(8):1170-1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr068</u>.
- [98] Choi K, Medley JK, Cannistra C, Matthias K. Tellurium: A python based modeling and reproducibility platform for systems biology. BioRxiv 2016:1-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/054601</u>.
- [99] Papin JA, Mac Gabhann F, SaurolD HM, NickersonID D, RampadarathID A. Improving reproducibility in computational biology research 2020. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007881.